
 
 
 
 
 

February 6, 2008 
 
 
EA-07-258 
EA-07-259 
 
William R. Underwood 
President 
Underwood Engineering Testing Co., Inc. 
143 Harding Ave. 
Bellmawr, NJ 08031 
 
SUBJECT:  NOTICE OF VIOLATION AND PROPOSED IMPOSITION OF CIVIL PENALTY -

$3,250 (NRC INSPECTION REPORT NO. 03021053/2007001) 
 
Dear Mr. Underwood: 
 

 This refers to a special inspection conducted from March 20 though August 13, 2007, at your 
facilities in Bellmawr, New Jersey, at six temporary job sites, and at a facility in Philadelphia, 
Pennsylvania, in response to an event that you reported to the NRC Operations Center on 
March 20, 2007.  The event involved the theft of a portable gauge containing licensed material 
from a vehicle at your temporary job site in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as well as the loss of 
one of the two radioactive sources.  At the time of the event, the gauge was secured with only 
one chain.  Your failure to use a minimum of two independent physical controls (that form 
tangible barriers to secure portable gauges from unauthorized removal whenever they were not 
under your control and constant surveillance) contributed to the theft.   
 
Subsequent to your report of the event, Philadelphia police located the transport container of the 
gauge.  The radiological surveys of the area resulted in the source rod of the gauge being 
found. Surveys by your contractor, an NRC-licensed waste handler, also confirmed that the 
source rod was located in the area.  The contractor removed the source rod from the area and 
packaged it for transport to your facility.  Surveys by Pennsylvania Department of Environmental 
Protection personnel and later by personnel from the Department of Energy failed to locate a 
missing source, which is now considered lost.  Surveys did not reveal the presence of personnel 
or area contamination. 
 
The findings of this inspection were discussed with you during an exit meeting at the conclusion 
of the inspection on August 13, 2007.  The apparent violations of NRC requirements were 
documented in an inspection report sent to you in a letter dated November 19, 2007, in which 
we requested that you attend a predecisional enforcement conference (PEC).  On January 9, 
2008, a PEC was conducted in the Region I office with you and members of your staff, to 
discuss the apparent violations.  During the PEC, you presented information about the root 
causes of the apparent violations and your corrective actions taken and/or planned to prevent 
future violations.  Based on the information developed during the inspection and at the PEC, the 
NRC has determined that eight violations of NRC requirements occurred.  The violations for 
which the NRC is issuing escalated enforcement action are cited in Sections I and II of the 
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enclosed Notice of Violation and the circumstances surrounding them are described in detail in 
the subject inspection report.  The violations involved failures to: (1) use two independent 
physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges from unauthorized 
removal, whenever the portable gauges were not under your control and constant surveillance 
(four examples), including one example that contributed to the theft of a gauge and loss of one 
of its radioactive sources; (2) confine possession and use of byproduct material (portable 
gauges) to the locations authorized in the license; and (3) provide notification to the NRC in 
writing of the decision to cease activities at the site. 
 
With respect to the violation set forth in Section I of the Notice, the NRC considered that the 
failure to properly secure the portable gauge at the temporary job site in Philadelphia resulted in 
the actual loss of licensed material.  Even though no instances of contamination were identified 
among personnel, the presence of licensed radioactive material in the public domain has the 
potential to cause contamination and unnecessarily expose members of the public to radiation.  
In addition, there were three other examples identified in which radioactive material was left 
vulnerable to theft.  Therefore, this violation has been classified at Severity Level (SL) III.  
 
In accordance with Section VI.C.2 of the Enforcement Policy, the base civil penalty amount for a 
Severity Level III violation or problem involving the loss of this type of radioactive material is 
$3,250.  For violations involving the loss, abandonment, or improper transfer or disposal of a 
sealed source or device, a civil penalty of at least the base amount is normally issued (Lost 
Source Policy).  Therefore, to emphasize the importance of maintaining security and control of 
radioactive material, I have been authorized, after consultation with the Director, Office of 
Enforcement, to issue the enclosed Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty 
(Notice) in the amount of $3,250, in accordance with the Lost Source Policy.  In addition, this 
Notice constitutes escalated enforcement action that may subject you to increased inspection 
effort.   
 
The NRC recognizes that you took corrective actions to address the cause of this violation.  The 
Radiation Safety Officer (RSO) took an immediate corrective action to meet with the authorized 
users (AUs) to discuss gauge security requirements.  Further corrective actions included: (1) 
installing fixed structures in the storage room and providing chains so that each gauge could be 
chained to the structure; (2) issuing safety packet information to the AUs including specific steps 
for securing a gauge on a vehicle; (3) implementing a disciplinary plan and tracking sheets for 
nuclear technicians receiving warnings for not correctly implementing 30.34(i) requirements; (4) 
assigning personnel to assist in checking that gauges are properly secured at the beginning and 
end of each day; and, (5) having the RSO conduct site visits twice a month to ensure AUs are 
correctly adhering to the regulations.  
 
With respect to the violations set forth in Section II of the Notice, the NRC considered that 
releasing your licensed site for unrestricted use without requesting authorization and providing 
notification, prevented the NRC from verifying that you had evaluated your licensed site for 
contamination before moving to a new site.  Contamination at the previous site was possible 
because you had stored at least sixteen portable gauges at that location, and at least one 
gauge had not been leak tested.  Therefore, in accordance with the Enforcement Policy, the 
NRC has classified these violations as a SL III problem.   
 
With regard to the violations in Section II of the Notice, a base civil penalty in the amount of 
$3,250 is considered for each Severity Level III problem.  Since your facility has not been the 



Mr. William Underwood 
 

3

subject of escalated enforcement action within the last two years or two inspections, the NRC 
considered whether credit was warranted for Corrective Action in accordance with the civil 
penalty assessment process in Section VI.C.2 of the Enforcement Policy.  Credit for corrective 
actions is warranted because your corrective actions were considered to have been prompt and 
comprehensive.  Your immediate corrective action consisted of providing the NRC inspector a 
letter requesting a license amendment after the inspector informed you of the requirement 
during the March 2007 inspection, and later providing the leak test record that was requested for 
the one gauge.  In addition, you are using contracted consultants to assist Underwood 
Engineering Testing Co., Inc. in developing and implementing a regulatory compliance program 
that will address implementation of relevant NRC regulatory and licensing requirements.  
Therefore, to encourage prompt and comprehensive correction of violations, I have been 
authorized, after consultation with the Director, Office of Enforcement, to issue the enclosed 
Notice without a civil penalty for this SL III problem.  However, you should be aware that 
significant violations in the future could result in a civil penalty.  In addition, issuance of this SL 
III problem constitutes escalated enforcement action.  
 
During the PEC, you noted that Underwood Engineering Testing Co., Inc. has many AUs and 
gauges under its control, and conducts NRC licensed testing in various types of locations that 
create a potential for loss or theft of licensed material.  Notwithstanding the size and locations of 
your testing operations, it is your responsibility to provide the necessary oversight of and 
adherence to NRC requirements, especially requirements for portable gauge security.  Failure 
to do so in the future may result in more significant enforcement action.   
 
The other five violations are described in Section III of the enclosed Notice.  These violations 
have been categorized at SL IV in accordance with the Enforcement Policy.  
 
The NRC has concluded that information regarding the reasons for the violations, the corrective 
actions taken to correct the violations and prevent recurrence, and the date when full 
compliance was achieved is already adequately addressed on the docket in this letter, in our 
November 19, 2007 letter transmitting Inspection Report No. 03021053/2007001, and in your 
letter dated January 22, 2008.  Therefore, you are not required to provide that information 
unless the descriptions in the aforementioned correspondence do not accurately reflect your 
position.  However, pursuant to 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to provide a response to the 
enclosed Notice and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty identifying whether you admit or deny 
the violations, as well as to provide appropriate payment of the Civil Penalty.  Please follow the 
instructions in the attached Notice when preparing your response. 
 
If you choose to provide additional information, to the extent possible, your response should not 
include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made 
available to the public without redaction.  If personal privacy or proprietary information is 
necessary to provide an acceptable response, please provide a bracketed copy of your 
response that identifies the information that should be protected and a redacted copy of your 
response that deletes such information.  If you request withholding of such information, you 
must specifically identify the portions of your response that you seek to have withheld and 
provide in detail the bases for your claim of withholding (e.g., explain why the disclosure of 
information will create an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy or provide the information 
required by 10 CFR 2.390(b) to support a request for withholding confidential commercial or 
financial information).   
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In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter and its 
Enclosures will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public 
Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web 
site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  The NRC also includes significant 
enforcement actions on its Web site at http://www.nrc.gov. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 

/RA/ 
 
Samuel J. Collins 
Regional Administrator 

 
Docket No. 03021053 
License No. 29-23425-01 
 
Enclosures: 
1. Notice of Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty 
2. NUREG/BR-0254 Payment Methods  
 
cc:  
State of New Jersey 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
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In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter and its 
Enclosures will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public 
Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web 
site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  The NRC also includes significant 
enforcement actions on its Web site at http://www.nrc.gov. 
 

Sincerely, 
 /RA/ 
Samuel J. Collins 
Regional Administrator 
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION  
AND  

PROPOSED IMPOSITION OF CIVIL PENALTY 
 
 
Underwood Engineering Testing Co., Inc.  Docket No. 03021053 
Bellmawr, NJ  License No. 29-23425-01 
         EA-07-258; EA-07-259 
 
During an NRC inspection conducted March 20 through August 13, 2007, eight violations of 
NRC requirements were identified.  In accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, the  NRC 
proposes to impose a civil penalty pursuant to Section 234 of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as 
amended , 42 U.S.C. 2282, and 10 CFR 2.205.  The particular violations and associated civil 
penalty are set forth below: 
 
I. Violations Assessed a Civil Penalty:   Multiple Examples of Inadequate Physical 

Controls, Including the Loss of a Source 
 
 10 CFR 30.34(i) requires that each portable gauge licensee use a minimum of two 

independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure portable gauges from 
unauthorized removal whenever portable gauges are not under the control and constant 
surveillance of the licensee. 

 
Contrary to the above, on at least four different occasions, the licensee did not use a 
minimum of two independent physical controls that form tangible barriers to secure 
portable gauges from unauthorized removal whenever portable gauges were not under 
the control and constant surveillance of the licensee.  Specifically:  

 
A.  On March 19, 2007, the licensee stored a portable gauge in a locked 

transportation container in an open bed of a pick up truck that was parked in an 
unrestricted area and the licensee used only one physical control (a chain) on the 
transportation container that formed a tangible barrier to secure the gauge from 
unauthorized removal.  The transportation container with the portable gauge was 
removed from the truck by unauthorized individuals and was later disassembled, 
and one of the two sources was not recovered (only the source rod and the other 
source were recovered);  

 
B.  On March 28, 2007, the licensee stored two portable gauges and the recovered 

source rod from the gauge that was stolen on March 19, 2007, in its storage 
room.  The room was located in an unrestricted area where construction was in 
progress, and the stored gauges were secured from unauthorized removal only 
by the use of one physical control, namely, the locked door of the storage room; 

 
C. On June 28, 3007, a portable gauge was stored in the storage room, and the 

locked door was the only physical control to secure the gauge from unauthorized 
removal; and  

 
D. On June 28, 2007, an authorized user (AU) stored a portable gauge in his 

vehicle, and while the gauge and its transport containers were each locked, and 
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the transport container was secured to the truck by two chains passing through 
two rings attached to the side rails of the truck, the rings could easily be removed 
from the side rails without any tools.  The truck had two welded rings on the truck 
bed, and the inspector informed the RSO and the AU that securing the chains to 
the easily removable rings did not form a tangible barrier, and that securing the 
chains to the welded rings would constitute a tangible barrier.  However, on July 
9, 2007, the same AU stored the gauge in his unattended truck and secured the 
container by chains using the same removable rings.  The unattended truck was 
parked on the street in an unrestricted area. 

 
These are examples of a Severity Level III violation (Supplement VI). 
Civil Penalty - $3,250 
 

II. Violations Not Assessed a Civil Penalty:  Failure to Obtain Authorization, Provide 
Notification, and Conduct Decommissioning Associated with a Change in the Location of 
Byproduct Material Use  

 
A. 10 CFR 30.34(c) requires, in part, that each licensee confine its possession and 

use of the byproduct material to the locations authorized in the license.  
 

Contrary to the above, the licensee did not confine its possession and use of the 
byproduct material to the locations authorized in the license.  Specifically, 
between December 2006, and April 30, 2007, the licensee stored its portable 
gauges containing byproduct material at a Bellmawr, NJ location, which was not 
an authorized storage location in the license. 

 
B. 10 CFR 30.36(d) requires, in part, that within 60 days of the decision to cease 

activities at a site, the licensee provide notification to the NRC in writing of the 
decision and begin decommissioning its site. 

 
Contrary to the above, in November 2006, the licensee decided to cease 
activities at its site in Mt. Ephraim, NJ, and as of March 29, 2007, a period of 
more than 60 days had elapsed and the licensee did not provide the required 
notification to the NRC. 

 
These two violations constitute a Severity Level III Problem (Supplement VI). 
 

III.  Other Violations of NRC Requirements  
 

A. 49 CFR 177.842 requires, in part, that packages of radioactive materials be so 
blocked and braced that they cannot change position during conditions normally 
incident to transportation. 

 
Contrary to the above, on March 29, 2007, the licensee transported a portable 
gauge containing NRC licensed radioactive material on a public highway and the 
package was not blocked and braced such that it could not change position 
during conditions normally incident to transportation.   

 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement V). 
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B. 49 CFR 172.202 requires, in part, that the shipping description of a hazardous 
material on the shipping paper include the identification number prescribed for 
the material specified in 49 CFR 172.101.  Pursuant to 49 CFR 172.101, 
radioactive material is classified as hazardous material. 

 
Contrary to the above, on March 28, 2007, the licensee transported a portable 
gauge containing NRC licensed radioactive material and the shipping papers did 
not include the correct identification numbers and the correct address of the 
shipper.  

 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement V). 

 
C. License No. 29-23425-01, Condition 13 of the license requires, in part, that 

sealed sources be tested for leakage at the frequency specified in its certificate 
of registration. 

 
Contrary to the above, the licensee did not test several of its sealed sources at 
the frequency specified in the devices’ certificates of registration.   Specifically, 
the registration certificate for the Humboldt devices specifies that the devices’ 
sealed sources are to be tested for leakage at six month intervals, and the 
registration certificate for the Troxler devices states that their sealed sources are 
to be tested for leakage at twelve month intervals.  A Humboldt device was 
tested for leakage on October 5, 2005, and was not tested for leakage again until 
September 5, 2006, after a period of six months had elapsed.  Additionally, a 
Troxler device was tested for leakage on October 5, 2005, and was not tested for 
leakage again until February 14, 2007, after a period in excess of 12 months had 
elapsed; and another Troxler device was leak tested on June 24, 2005, and was 
not tested again for leakage until March 13, 2007, after a period of more than 
twelve months had elapsed.  Similarly, the licensee did not have record of a leak 
test of another  Troxler device that the licensee had acquired on January 7, 2005.  
The gauge was last used on March 23, 2005.   
 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI). 

 
D. License No. 29-23425-01, Condition 15 of the license requires, in part, that 

physical inventory of sealed sources include all sealed sources or devices 
acquired under the license.  

 
Contrary to the above, on March 28, 2007, the licensee did not include a Troxler 
Model 3216 portable gauge and a Humboldt Model 5001-C portable gauge in the 
inventory records for the physical inventory of the gauges in its possession. 

 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI). 

 
E. License No. 29-23425-01, Condition 16 of the license requires, in part, that the 

gauge or its transport container be locked while in storage. 
 

Contrary to the above, prior to March 28, 2007, the licensee did not lock the 
gauges or their transport containers that were stored at its facilities.   

 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI). 
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The NRC has concluded that information regarding the reasons for the violations, the corrective 
actions taken to correct the violations and prevent recurrence, and the date when full 
compliance was achieved is already adequately addressed on the docket in the letter 
transmitting this Notice, in our November 19, 2007 letter transmitting Inspection Report No. 
03021053/2007001, and in your letter dated January 22, 2008.  Therefore, you are not required 
to provide that information unless the descriptions in the aforementioned correspondence do not 
accurately reflect your position.  However, pursuant to 10 CFR 2.201, you are required to 
provide a response to this Notice and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty identifying whether 
you admit or deny the violations, as well as to provide appropriate payment of the Civil Penalty.  
Clearly mark your response as a "Reply to a Notice of Violation; EA 07-258 and EA 07-259," 
and send it to the Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, with a 
copy to the Regional Administrator, Region I, within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting 
this Notice.   
 
The licensee may pay the civil penalty proposed above in accordance with NUREG/BR-0254 
(copy enclosed) and by submitting to the Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission, a letter clearly marked “Statement as to Payment of Civil Penalty” 
indicating when and by what method payment was made.   
 
The licensee may protest imposition of the civil penalty in whole or in part, by a written answer 
addressed to the Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission.  Should 
the licensee fail to answer within 30 days of the date of this Notice of Violation and Proposed 
Imposition of Civil Penalty, an order imposing the civil penalty will be issued.  Should the 
licensee elect to file an answer in accordance with 10 CFR 2.205 protesting the civil penalty, in 
whole or in part, such answer should be clearly marked as an "Answer to a Notice of Violation" 
and may: (1) deny the violations listed in this Notice, in whole or in part, (2) demonstrate 
extenuating circumstances, (3) show error in this Notice, or (4) show other reasons why the 
penalty should not be imposed.  In addition to protesting the civil penalty in whole or in part, 
such answer may request remission or mitigation of the penalty.   
 
In requesting mitigation of the proposed penalty, the factors addressed in Section VI.C.2 of the 
Enforcement Policy should be addressed.  Any written answer in accordance with 10 CFR 2.205 
should be set forth separately from the statement or explanation in reply pursuant to 10 CFR 
2.201, but may incorporate parts of the 10 CFR 2.201 reply by specific reference (e.g., citing 
page and paragraph numbers) to avoid repetition.  The attention of the licensee is directed to 
the other provisions of 10 CFR 2.205, regarding the procedure for imposing a civil penalty.  
       
Upon failure to pay any civil penalty due which subsequently has been determined in 
accordance with the applicable provisions of 10 CFR 2.205, this matter may be referred to the 
Attorney General, and the penalty, unless compromised, remitted, or mitigated, may be 
collected by civil action pursuant to Section 234c of the Atomic Energy Act, 42 U.S.C. 2282c. 
 
The responses noted above (Reply to a Notice of Violation; EA 07-258 and EA 07-259, 
Statement as to Payment of Civil Penalty, or Answer to a Notice of Violation) should be 
addressed to: Cynthia Carpenter, Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, One White Flint North, 11555 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852-2738, with a 
copy addressed to: Samuel Collins, Regional Administrator, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, Region I, 475 Allendale Road, King of Prussia, PA 19406-1415.  
 



Notice of Violation    5 

Your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public 
Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web 
site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html.  Therefore, to the extent possible, the 
response should not include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that 
it can be made available to the public without redaction.  However, if personal privacy or 
proprietary information is necessary to provide an acceptable response, then please provide a 
bracketed copy of your response that identifies the information that should be protected and a 
redacted copy of your response that deletes such information.  If you request withholding of 
such material from public disclosure, you must specifically identify the portions of your response 
that you seek to have withheld and provide in detail the bases for your claim of withholding (e.g., 
explain why the disclosure of information will create an unwarranted invasion of personal 
privacy or provide the information required by 10 CFR 2.390(b) to support a request for 
withholding confidential commercial or financial information).  
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 19.11, you may be required to post this Notice within two working 
days.  
 
Dated this 6th day of February 2008. 
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